IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDZ LE

)

THOMAS HARRISON PROVENZANO,

Appellant,

MAR 13 1985 CLERK SUPREME COURT By L

SID J. WHITE

Case No. 65,663

٦.

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

LARRY B. HENDERSON ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER 1012 South Ridgewood Avenue Daytona Beach, Florida 32014-6183 Phone (904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On August 1, 1983, two officers of the Orlando Police Department arrested Thomas Provenzano for disorderly conduct after he was observed making obscene gestures at oncoming traffic (R 869-870, 1289-1297).¹ Provenzano was placed in a chokehold, taken to the ground and his nose broken when he resisted being handcuffed (R 891, 902, 906-908).

The resisting arrest charge became an obsession with Provenzano. He would often go twice a day to the clerk's office to check his file (R 1392-1394). He followed the police officers who arrested him (R 874-875, 904) and occasionally threatened them (R 901, 905, 908, 878).

On November 4, 1983, Provenzano bought a .38 caliber "Rossi" revolver from a pawn shop (R 823-825). On December 13, 1983, a 12 gauge pump shot gun was purchased and the barrel shortened approximately 2½ inches (R 828-831). Just before Christmas of 1983, Provenzano had a jacket altered in order to conceal the weapons (R 816-820). His personal hygiene deteriorated and he began wearing combat boots and army fatigues (R 832, 841, 847, 912-913, 924).

A .45 caliber "Commander" semi-automatic assault rifle was purchased January 3, 1984 (R 838-840). On January 4, 1984, he stated, "Come Monday this city will be sorry; it's treason!" (R 912-915).

- 1 -

^{1 (}R) refers to the Record on Appeal of the instant cause, Supreme Court Case No. 65,663.

He appeared at the Orange County Courthouse on January 9, 1984, wearing black combat boots, army fatigue pants, a long olive drab army coat, a red bandana, and a shoulder bag (R 574). He was told that he had come in a day early, that his trial was not until the next day and to return then (R 547). He left without incident. On January 10, 1984, he checked in with the public defender's office and appeared to be in a cheerful and pleasant mood (R 922). He asked whether his attorney was present, and when told that he was not, Provenzano stated, "Good. I can't wait. I have got it beat. I can't wait until those two policemen walk in. I'll show them." (R 922-923).

A high school student in the hallway of the Orange County Courthouse saw Provenzano pacing up and down the hallway muttering to himself, stating words to the effect of, "I'm going to do it. I'm going to do it. This is where guys get their ass kicked." (R 865). At this time Provenzano was carrying the knapsack (R 865). He became agitated at a woman who glanced his way, and screamed, "Don't look at me that way. That's the way they looked at Jesus!" (R 1407).

He thereafter entered Judge Conser's courtroom on the 4th floor of the Orange County Courthouse (R 547, 582). Correctional Officer Mark Parker informed him that he would have to have the knapsack searched or leave it outside the courtroom (R 585). Accordingly, he left the courtroom and returned approximately 45 minutes later (R 586-587). Parker was told by Bailiff Harry Dalton to keep an eye on the defendant (R 587). In this regard, Bailiff Dalton had asked for and obtained

- 2 -

permission from Judge Conser to search Provenzano the day before (R 615, 521-524). An assistant state attorney who also had observed the combat garb the day before brought a hand gun to the courtroom in his briefcase, just in case (R 527-528). Provenzano was being described as a "signal 20" ...a crazy person (R 1784).

When Provenzano's case was called, the defendant approached Judge Conser, his hand in his pocket (R 612). Because his defense attorney was not present at that time, he was told by Judge Conser to return to the spectator portion of the courtroom to await his attorney (R 612). Bailiff Dalton was instructed to search Provenzano, so Dalton approached him saying that he was going to have to be searched and that he was his friend (R 588-590). Corrections Officer Parker exited the courtroom through a side door, then came in behind the defendant. As the defendant reached in his pocket, Dalton went to grab him and was shot in the face by Provenzano, who screamed, "You're not my friend, m---- f-----!" (R 551, 526, 576-578, 588-590, 595).

The people in the courtroom took cover. (R 553). Officer Parker wheeled around and ran from the courtroom in order to get help, and as he exited the courtroom he heard someone exit behind him (R 590, 607). Officer Parker heard one shot and was struck in the head as he turned a corner in the hallway, and he proceeded a little further when he was struck in the back by a bullet shot from Bailiff Wilkerson's pistol (R 591).

- 3 -

Bailiff Wilkerson was relieved from duty and exited Judge Coleman's courtroom. Shortly thereafter, gun shots were heard (R 630-633). A bullet came through the window of the courtroom door (R 632, 674-675, 684). A deputy fire chief (un-uniformed) and his wife were in the hallway when they heard shots fired, and they observed Bailiff Wilkerson with his gun drawn (R 656-660, 663-664). The couple got up against the wall when a gunman ran past, mumbling, "I'm going to kill you m----f-----. I'm going to kill all of you." (R 660, 665). He was seen to take a "military stance" toward the doorway holding a "rifle" out in front of him (R 666). A loud discharge followed (R 667).

Provenzano then took shelter in a cafeteria area (R 635-638). Corporal Al Jacobs of the Orange County Sheriff's Office observed the defendant holding a shotgun, and Deputy Jacobs shot him in the back through a window (R 649-655). The defendant was armed with a 12 gauge pump shotgun loaded with .00 buck shot, a .45 caliber V.E. Commando Mark 45 assault rifle with a 30 round clip, a Rossi .38 caliber 5 shot revolver (R 710-712), a box of .38 caliber ammunition, a box of .45 caliber ammunition, and an extra clip of .45 caliber ammunition (R 686-690).

Parker was shot in the back by Wilkerson's pistol (R 725). An orthopedic surgeon examined Parker and testified that Parker was a quadriplegic due to spinal cord injury (R 806-808). Similarly, a neurosurgeon who examined Dalton found that Dalton had received a gun shot wound in the head and as a result lost

- 4 -

his right eye and suffered paralysis to the left side (R 857-860). Bailiff Wilkerson was killed. An autopsy showed that Wilkerson was injured primarily in the neck area and right hand with six shotgun pellets, the trajectory of which was essentially parallel to the floor (R 742-749). One pellet entered the larynx and tore a major blood vein in the left side of Wilkerson's neck, causing aspiration of blood and asphyxiation (R 749-754). The distal part of the finger of Wilkerson's right hand was severed (R 756-757).²

Provenzano was taken to the Orlando Regional Medical Center for the gun shot injury to his back. After preliminary treatment and x-rays, he stated, "Shirley and Epperson arrested for me resisting. They stopped me for no reason. I have been angry at them since that time. I wanted to get rid of them, get them out of my sight. I was scared. I always carried a gun with me. I'm not saying anything further anymore." (R 950).

Provenzano was charged by Indictment dated January 17, 1984, with two counts of attempted first-degree murder and one count of murder in the first-degree (R 2726-2727). The Indictment, as brought, was signed by Robert Eagan, State Attorney of the Ninth Judicial Circuit of Florida (R 2727).

Several motions to dismiss the Indictment were filed by Mr. Provenzano's defense counsel, the motions based primarily on the conflict of interest existing between the State Attorney's

² The cylinder release latch from Bailiff Wilkerson's Smith and Wesson revolver was apparently blown from the revolver by the single shot gun blast. There were four (4) spent cartridges in Wilkerson's gun (R 679, 713-714, State's Exhibit 42).

Office of the Ninth Judicial Circuit and the prosecution of Mr. Provenzano (R 2741-2750). Accordingly, on January 23, 1984, Governor Graham, issued Executive Order Number 84-17 assigning Ed Austin "to discharge the duties of the Honorable Robert Eagan... as they relate to the investigation, prosecution, and representation of the State of Florida and all matters pertaining to or arising from the indictment of Thomas Harrison Provenzano, as previously described herein." (R 2752-2753).

On February 15, 1984, three expert psychiatrists were appointed to determine Provenzano competency to stand trial (R 2784-2785). That same day, by order of the Supreme Court of Florida, the Honorable Clifford B. Shepard, Chief Judge of the Fourth Judicial Circuit Court of Florida, was assigned to hear, conduct, try, and determine the case of the State of Florida versus Thomas Harris (sic) Provenzano, Case No. CR84-835 (R 2786). The three court-appointed psychiatrists found Mr. Provenzano competent to stand trial (R 2790-2798, 2795, 2798), and the court entered an order of competency in this regard (R 2809-2810).

A motion to dismiss indictment was filed by Provenzano's defense attorney, which motion alleged that the indictment had been tainted by intense pre-indictment publicity by the media, tainted by presentation by a prosecutor who had removed himself from the case due to a <u>Fitzpatrick v. Smith</u> [432 So.2d 89 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983)] type conflict, and further that the defendant's motions to voir dire the grand jury had been denied

- 6 -

(R 2817-2818). A second motion to dismiss the indictment filed by defense counsel alleged that the state had extended an invitation to the defendant to present exculpatory evidence to the grand jury prior to their returning an indictment, and this invitation had not been honored prior to the return of the indictment (R 2820-2821). The motions to dismiss the indictment were denied (R 2863).

The Office of the Public Defender for Orange County was permitted to voluntarily withdraw, and Mr. Jack Edmund, Esquire was appointed (R 2850). A notice of intent to rely on the defense of insanity was thereafter filed (R 2852-2853), and another motion to dismiss indictment was filed, which motion alleged, inter alia, that Section 921.141, Florida Statutes is procedural in nature and not substantive law, and that the statute violates the separation of powers between the law making function of the state legislature and the rule making function of the judiciary, violating Article 5, Section 2 of the Florida Constitution.³ The motion further alleged that Section 921.141 violated the 5th, 8th and 14th Amendments to the Constitution of the United States and Article I, Section 2, 9, 16 and 17 of the Constitution of the State of Florida, in that it allowed the trial judge to overrule a jury recommendation of a life sentence. The motion further averred that death by electrocution as provided by Section 922.10, Florida Statutes is cruel and unusual

<u>See Morgan v. State</u>, 415 So.2d 6 (Fla. 1982), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u> 459 U.S. 1055 (1982).

punishment in violation of the 8th and 14th Amendments to the Constitution of the United States and Article I, Section 17 of the Constitution of the State of Florida (R 2929).⁴ The motion to dismiss was denied (R 2938). A motion to suppress evidence seized and an unlawful search (R 2884-2892) was similarly denied (R 2936).⁵

The matter proceeded to trial on June 11, 1984, 152 days after the shooting incident. Prior to the commencement of selection of jurors, Provenzano notified Judge Shepard that he had been under the impression that his jurors would not be residents of Orange County (R 3-5). He was adamant that he did not want to be tried by the residents of Orange County (R 10).

An oral motion for change of venue was thereafter made by defense counsel and joined in by the state to the extent that the court should attempt to select impartial members of Orange County to serve on the jury. In the event that it then appeared impossible to obtain an impartial jury, then and only then should the court grant the motion for change of venue (R 18-21). The court deferred ruling on the motion to change venue (R 21-22). A jury was selected, sworn (R 372), and thereafter sequestered prior to opening argument or introduction of any evidence (R 431-434).

- 8 -

⁴ <u>See Booker v. State</u>, 397 So.2d 910 (Fla. 1981), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u> 454 U.S. 957 (1981).

⁵ It should be noted that the search was conducted pursuant to a search warrant issued by the Honorable Rom Powell, Circuit Court Judge of Orange County (R 2886-2892).

The evidence presented by the State, viewed in a light most favorable to the verdict, established that on January 10, 1984, Provenzano went to the Orange County Courthouse intending to shoot Officers Shirley and Epperson (R 950). Those officers were not in the courtroom, however, and when the bailiffs surrounded the defendant and informed him that he was to be searched, Provenzano shot Bailiff Dalton in the face at a distance of approximately 2 feet (R 576-578). Parker ran out into the hallway and was shot once by Provenzano and once by Wilkerson (R 589-591, 603-607). Wilkerson was then shot in the neck with a 12 gauge shotgun and killed as he pointed his service revolver at Provenzano (R 660, 632, 665-667, 749-760).

An insanity defense was presented. It was established that Thomas Provenzano was born June 6, 1949 (R 970). He grew up in a suburb in Chicago (R 992). His mother deserted him when he was 2½ years old, and thereafter he and his sister lived with grandparents (R 992). His mother was not seen again until Thomas was 12 years old (R 993). His father remarried, and thereafter Thomas lived intermittently with his sister and father (R 994). He led a checkered childhood, stealing and using drugs (R 994-995).

When 19, Provenzano married and moved to Florida (R 998). His wife bore him a son [Tommy, Jr.] in 1969, and that turned his life around (R 999). He quit stealing, got off drugs and obtained a job with the railroad (R 999).

Two years later his wife informed him that she wanted a divorce because she had fallen in love with her employer (R

- 9 -

1000-1006). Though he tried, Provenzano was unable to obtain custody of his son (R 1006-1009). He became "cold" and stopped talking, ignored his family, and turned to studying the Bible (R 1009). The sole exception seemed to be his attitude toward his nephew, whom he treated like a son (R 1011).

An amateur minister counseled Provenzano about the Bible, but the friendship ended abruptly when the minister made homosexual advances (R 1012, 1015). A short stint in the Air Force in 1972 ended in an undesirable discharge when Thomas went A.W.O.L. to see his son (R 1016-1023).

Provenzano remarried in 1973, and though his wife became pregnant, the child [another son] was still born (R 1031). Thomas blamed his wife for the death. He became even more reclusive, and he studied the Bible and dictionary constantly (R 1032-1034). Working entirely on his own, he became a licensed master electrician in 1976 (R 1035).

In March of 1976 he went to Chicago to attend the funeral of a friend who had died from a drug overdose, and upon returning he related to his (the defendant's) sister that the police in Chicago had ejected him from town, placing an undercover officer on the plane to escort him back to Florida (R 1041-1046).

After his return from Chicago, Thomas began flinching and became jumpy (R 1048). He stopped eating at his sister's house, thinking the food was poisoned (R 1048). He carried the Bible with him constantly. He believed that his sister's husband [who was in reality a truck driver] was an undercover policeman assigned to watch him (R 1049).

- 10 -

In 1982, the defendant's nephew required thyroid surgery (R 1053). Thomas argued that the surgery was unnecessary, and that instead the nephew would be healed by him with the Lord's power (R 1053-1054). The required surgery was performed and thereafter Thomas terminated all relationships with his sister (R 1055-1057). He continued to come to her house in order to visit the nephew but would only drive up outside the house and honk the horn for the nephew to come outside and talk. He refused to enter the house (R 1057-1060).

Thomas told his nephew that he (the nephew) had to be stronger in his mind and soul than "they are" (R 1102). He further stated that the christians would have to unite in order to fight the bad people (R 1103). The nephew was told to always eat at home, and to watch out for people who rule the city and the world (R 1103-1104). In 1981, he expressed a belief that he was Jesus Christ (R 1159-1160, 1172-1173).

In 1982, Provenzano rented a large-sized bedroom and lived exclusively by himself for approximately 1 year (R 1124-1127). His landlady described him as a good tenant who was nice, always paying his rent on time (R 1128). He kept to himself, did not talk much, and had few or no visitors (R 1126). From August of 1982 until January of 1984 Thomas found and rented a different 9x11 room (R 1131-1132). He paid his rent weekly, never talked much, and dressed cleanly and neatly (R 1133).

Provenzano usually ate at the same restaurant, and ordered the same meals (R 1152-1156). He always watched the food being prepared (R 1088-1089, 1670). He never talked to or bothered anyone (R 1152-1156).

- 11 -

In 1983, he went to the Orlando Police Department and turned in a bottle of wine, believing that he had been poisoned (R 1207-1210). He developed a fascination with the Susan Assad case (R 1136, 1232), and contacted the assistant coordinator at the Seminole County Courthouse (R 1388-1390). In late April of 1983, he completed doing research in the Assad case and gave Ms. Assad's defense counsel the research he had done (R 1235-1237). Thereafter, at the Assad sentencing hearing conducted on June 16, 1983, Provenzano stood up and addressed the judge, attempting to speak in behalf of Ms. Assad (R 1240). He was directed by the trial judge to direct his assistance to defense counsel (R 1241).

The disorderly conduct offense involving Officers Shirley and Epperson occurred in August, 1983, two months after the Assad fiasco. On December 16, 1983, Provenzano was involved in a traffic accident handled by the Florida Highway Patrol (R 1641-1645). No citations were issued, and Provenzano behaved "normally" towards the highway patrol officer (R 1649, 1650).

Dr. Barbara Marra, a clinical psychologist, administered tests to Thomas Provenzano on January 26, 1984 (R 1299-1310). Dr. Marra analyzed each of Provenzano's responses to the different aspects of the tests (R 1310-1334), and in summary felt that Provenzano suffered from loose thinking, a thought disorder, low self-concept, a homosexual preoccupation, and rigid thinking patterns (R 1335). These test results were turned over to Dr. Pollack, a clinical psychiatrist (R 1512-1518).

- 12 -

Dr. Pollack examined Provenzano on January 20, 1984 and again on January 26, 1984. (R 1518-1519). Dr. Pollack reviewed the initial offense reports, the investigative reports, the psychologist report prepared by Dr. Marra, and interviewed Dr. Marra prior to coming to an opinion as to Provenzano's sanity on January 10, 1984. (R 1531-1532). Dr. Pollack believes that Provenzano had a mental defect that caused him to lose his ability to understand or reason accurately, and that accordingly he did not understand that his acts were wrong at the time because of the mental defect. (R 1532-1533). The doctor concluded that Provenzano was and is a dangerous person, that his illness is so severe that given identical or similar circumstances he would react the same. (R 1542-1543).

Dr. Henry Lyons, a board certified psychiatrist (R 1419-1426, 1438), examined Provenzano on June 8, 1984 (R 1440). Prior to the doctor's evaluation he was provided extensive material (R 1440-1442). His opinion was also that Provenzano was insane at the time of the shooting (R 1462).

Several lay people testified that, in their opinion, Provenzano was sane on or about January 10, 1984 (R 1613, 1618, 1627, 1633, 1645, 1649, 1661). Dr. Robert Kirkland, a board certified psychiatrist who testified for the state (R 1680-1683), interviewed the defendant on February 20 and 22, 1984 for approximately 2 hours. (R 1684). At that time Thomas appeared delusional (R 1687). Dr. Kirkland stated that, based upon the limited information received from the defendant and from the state attorney's office, Thomas Provenzano was legally sane on January 10, 1984 (R 1689-1690).

- 13 -

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