IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS HARRISON PROVENZANO	}		
Appellant,	<u> </u>		
vs.)	CASE NO.	65,663
STATE OF FLORIDA,	Ś		
Appellee.	\		
)		

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

FILED SID J. WHITE

MAY 17 1985

By Chief Deputy Clerk

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BELLE B. TURNER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 125 N. Ridgewood Avenue Fourth Floor Daytona Beach, Florida 32014 (904) 252-2005

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

TOPICAL

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

POINT VI

The trial court considered all statutory and non-statutory mitigating factors. In his sound discretion he determined that only one mitigating circumstance had been established by a preponderance of the evidence.

POINT VII

The allegedly improper comment made by the prosecutor during closing argument of the penalty phase is proper when viewed in context. The issue has not been preserved due to the failure to move for mistrial and request a curative instruction. Even if preserved and improper, any error is harmless.

The trial court correctly denied a motion for mistrial during the cross-examination of appellant during the penalty phase. Once the appellant became a witness, the state was entitled to develop matters testified to during direct. The

allegedly improper cross-examination further illuminated appellant's testimony concerning the "judicial conspiracy" of which he was a victim.

POINT VIII

Alleged errors which are unavailing individually are no more potent or convincing when lumped together. Appellant received a fair trial.

There are only two new allegations of error contained in this Point VIII. First, he claims that the court limited the cross-examination of two witnesses during the rebuttal portion of the state's case. Review of the record reveals that the defense was not limited, but vigorously and completely cross-examined the witnesses in question. Second, he complains that Wilkerson's relatives in the audience began crying as a tape of the shooting was replayed. The trial court did not notice the behavior, so it must not have been obvious. Any error is harmless.

POINT IX

The constitutionality of Florida's death penalty statute has been repeatedly upheld by this honorable court and federal courts.

POINT I

THE JURY WAS PROPERLY INSTRUCTED ON THE DOCTRINE OF TRANSFERRED INTENT BECAUSE APPELLANT'S ATTEMPT TO EFFECTUATE HIS PREMEDITATED DESIGN TO MURDER OFFICERS EPPERSON AND SHIRLEY DIRECTLY RESULTED IN THE DEATH OF ANOTHER HUMAN BEING, WILLIAM ARNOLD WILKERSON.

Appellant contends that reversible error occurred when, over timely objection, the jury was instructed that "if a person has a premeditated design to kill one person and in attempting to kill that person actually kills another person, the killing is premeditated" (R 1970). He claims that this instruction is not supported by the evidence adduced at trial and prejudiced him by confusing the jury on the element of premeditation. Appellee asserts that the premeditation design to kill Officers Shirley and Epperson directly resulted in the death of another human being and so the original malice can be transferred to the person who actually suffered the consequences of the planned attack. The doctrine of transferred intent applies to the facts of this case. If the current scope of the principle does not embrace the peculiar factual circumstances of this criminal episode, then it should be expanded to effectuate its purpose. Even if it was improper to so instruct the jury, any error is harmless because of the overwhelming evidence of guilt.

The doctrine of transferred intent has been approved by the courts of the state in every degree of homicide. Wright

v. State, 363 So.2d 617 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978) (manslaughter);

Pressley v. State, 395 So.2d 1175 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981) (second degree murder); Dawson v. State, 139 So.2d 408 (Fla. 1962) (first degree murder). The First District recently reversed an order granting a motion to dismiss a charge of first degree murder in a case involving transferred intent. In State v. Pforr, 461 So.2d 1006 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), that court held that "an indictment need only charge a premeditated attempt to kill the victim, even if the proof establishes that the requisite intent was directed toward another human being." Hence, the fact that this indictment alleged that appellant, by premeditated design, effectuated the death of William Arnold Wilkerson does not render the principle inapplicable (R 2769).

The usual case involving transferred intent is as appellant has stated: The defendant aims and shoots at A intending to kill him but instead misses and kills B. See,

Pressley v. State, supra. Succinctly stated, the intent follows the bullet. "As a matter of law, the original malice is transferred from the one against whom it was entertained to the person who actually suffered the consequences of the unlawful act." Id. at 1177.

Appellant's interpretation of this rule is confused by this graphic and common example. The normal case involves shooting into a crowd, intending to hit one person but killing another. Appellant's definition is limited to this usual but not exclusive example. He implies that both the intended vic-

tim and actual victim must always be in the same place when the murder occurs. Provenzano points to the fact that he murdered Wilkerson while Officers Shirley and Epperson were not even in the building, and claims that this fact negates application of the principle of transferred intent (AB 30-31).

Appellee respectfully disagrees with this interpretation of the rule. Appellee agrees that the normal case involves the defendant, the intended victim and the deceased all in the same place at the time of the murder. But this is not a usual case. Simply because this case does not fit into his narrowly defined principle, defined mostly with an example, does not automatically make the principle inapplicable.

The less common, but equally valid factual scenario could involve an intricate design to effectuate death from afar which goes awry. In at least one case decided by this honorable court, the victim and the defendant were not in the same place; in fact the victim was completely unknown to the defendant, yet his conviction for first degree murder was affirmed. Coston v. State, 139 Fla. 250, 190 So. 520 (Fla. 1939). In Coston, the defendant poisoned a small bottle of whiskey with five times the fatal dose of potassium cyanide. Coston gave the bottle to Donald Long, intending to kill Long. Instead of drinking the whiskey, Long gave the whiskey to Robert Etty, who in turn gave the bottle to Dolores Myerly, who drank it and promptly died. In affirming the conviction for first degree murder, the court explained:

The law, as well as reason, prevents (defendant) from taking advantage of his own wrong doing, or excusing himself when this unlawful act, if committed by (defendant), strikes down an unintended victim. The original malice as a matter of law is transferred from the one against whom it was entertained to the person who actually suffered the consequences of the unlawful act.

Id. at 522.

Obviously Provenzano was present at the scene when he murdered Wilkerson. The point is that the definition of transferred intent urged by appellant relies upon a common example that does not include all possible variations of this concept. Transferred intent encompasses more than just poor marksmanship.

The real question here is whether, at the time the murder was committed, Provenzano was attempting to effectuate his premeditated design to kill Officers Shirley and Epperson. The state submits that he was. Provenzano should not profit from his mistaken belief that his intended victims were among the uniformed law enforcement officers that encircled him. It is clear that Provenzano came to the courthouse that fateful day to effectuate his premeditated design to kill Officers Shirley and Epperson. Attempting to carry out that plan, Bailiff Wilkerson was killed, and Bailiffs Dalton and Parker were almost killed. As a matter of law, the malice directed toward Shirley and Epperson is transferred to Wilkerson.

In <u>Lee v. State</u>, 141 So.2d 257 (Fla. 1962), this

court affirmed a conviction for first degree murder, where the defendant had murdered his father-in-law, intending to kill his wife. The court examined the evidence, and determined that it was sufficient to establish premeditation.

When a man repeatedly makes invidious threats about his wife . . . and the invidious threats extend to the father and other members of his family, then arms himself with a pistol and a rifle, goes out on the highway in the manner shown by the evidence, passes his wife and her father with others traveling in the opposite direction, turns his car and pursues them, overtakes them, attempts to force them off the highway, repeatedly fires his rifle and pistol into the car where his wife and father were riding, kills both of them and injures others riding in the car, that of itself is sufficient to show a premeditated intent to murder the father if believed by the jury.

Id. at 259.

Provenzano repeatedly made threats against several people involved in the criminal justice system, including the officers (R 923), the City of Orlando (R 915), the Orlando Police Department (R 928, 942), "those people" (R 935), and the "establishment" (R 913). Then Provenzano armed himself with three firearms and ample ammunition, and proceeded to the courthouse on the morning of his trial (R 710-712). After being confronted by Parker concerning his knapsack, Provenzano had the presence of mind to take the knapsack outside rather than submit to a search, knowing that the knapsack contained

gun grips and ammunition (R 584, 798). Provenzano returned to the courtroom, still heavily armed. Within a minute, he shot Harry Dalton with a pistol and mortally wounded Arnie Wilkerson with a shotgun. In attempting to effectuate his premeditated design, Provenzano's actions resulted in the death of a human being.

Should this honorable court determine that the state of the law in Florida presently would not allow application of the doctrine of transferred intent to the unusual facts of this case, the state respectfully requests that the court expand the principle to effectuate its purpose. The malice and premeditated design to kill Officers Shirley and Epperson, once formulated and commenced when he entered the courthouse heavily armed, resulted in the death of a human being. Just as in the usual case, if a defendant cannot profit from his mistake and claim that he did not intend to kill his unlucky victim, then Provenzano should not profit from his mistake in unleashing his murderous attack before the arrival of his intended victims. True, this is not the most common construction of this doctrine, and perhaps even an expansion, but nevertheless the jury was properly instructed on the theory of transferred intent.

Even if this honorable court determines that the instruction was improper, any error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. There was competent, substantial evidence that Provenzano entertained the premeditated design to kill Wilkerson.

See, Point III, infra. Provenzano saw Wilkerson advancing, removed a loaded shotgun from a special pocket inside his coat,

said "I'm going to kill you, mother fuckers, I'm going to kill all of you," and fired the fatal shot when Wilkerson was two to three feet away. The state submits that this is competent, substantial evidence from which the jury could conclude that Provenzano formed a premeditated design to kill Wilkerson.

See, Washington v. State, 432 So.2d 44 (Fla. 1983).

The instruction on transferred intent was requested by the state because it was part of the law of the case. An equally important motivating factor is to rebut the defense presented at trial and reiterated here on appeal. Loosely translated, Provenzano's defense was that due to his insanity, when Dalton asked to search his person in Judge Conser's courtroom, Provenzano felt threatened, cornered, trapped. In response to this perceived threat, he lashed out at any approaching uniformed officer. The ensuing bedlam was likened to the shootout at the OK Corral. As a victim of a "judicial conspiracy," Provenzano did not perceive himself as an antagonist; his homosexual paranoia caused him to violently react whenever he was touched by a man.

Provenzano maintains this position. "The uncontroverted evidence shows that Provenzano was at most simply firing at any uniformed bailiff that approached him." (AB 43) The state requested the instruction on transferred intent to rebut this position. There is ample evidence that Provenzano planned the homicide(s) of law enforcement officers (including Shirley, Epperson and "any uniformed bailiff" who got in the way) long before any particular bailiff crossed his path. This fully

formed premeditated design to kill is transferred as a matter of law, and focuses on the hapless officer who was actually killed. It is not a defense to assert that, in furtherance of his attempt to effectuate his premeditated design to kill Shirley, Epperson, and/or unspecified others, he accidentally or unintentionally killed Wilkerson. It is this defense that tended to confuse the jury, not the instruction.

This honorable court cannot presume that the instruction so confused the jury that the substantial rights of the appellant were injuriously affected in light of the substantial evidence of premeditation without reference to transferred intent. § 924.33, Fla. Stat. (1983).

An analgous situation where the harmless error rule has been applied is when the jury is incorrectly instructed on the elements of the underlying felony when the state is prosecuting under both felony murder and premeditation theories. Even if there is insufficient evidence of the felony to support the instruction, if there is sufficient evidence of premeditation, the error is harmless. Frazier v. State, 107 So.2d 16 (Fla. 1958); McKennon v. State, 403 So.2d 389 (Fla. 1981); Buford v. Wainwright, 428 So.2d 1389 (Fla. 1983).

The doctrine of transferred intent was properly before the jury. In attempting to effectuate his premeditated design to kill Officers Shirley and Epperson, a human being was killed. Although appellee disagrees with his narrow interpretation of this theory, even if appellant is correct that the theory does not apply to this case, it should be ex-

panded to embrace this unique situation. The instruction was requested to rebut a defense that was contrary to law, or at least a defense that tended to confuse the jury. Even if the instruction was erroneously given, any error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967). There is competent, substantial evidence of premeditation directed towards Wilkerson to sustain the jury's verdict.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR CHANGE OF VENUE BECAUSE A MOTION WAS NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THE COURT AND BECAUSE A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL JURY WAS IMPANELED.

Appellant claims that he was denied a fair trial by an impartial jury in violation of his constitutional rights. Appellant asserts that there was great difficulty in selecting a jury, and claims that this raises a presumption of partiality. The particular allegation of error is that the trial court failed to ensure that both sides received a fair trial by an impartial jury, and abused its discretion in failing to grant an oral motion for change of venue on the first day of the trial.

This issue has not been preserved for appellate review. The oral motion was conditional in two respects which were never met, and no ruling was ever obtained on the motion.

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.240 requires that motions for change of venue be in writing, accompanied by affidavits and a certificate of good faith. The motion must be made no later than ten (10) days before trial unless good cause is shown for the failure to do so.

On the morning that the trial started, the defendant stated for the first time that he had been laboring under the misconception that the venire would be selected from voters

throughout the state, and that he did not want to be tried by a jury selected from Orange County voters (R 3-8). After some discussion, appellant's attorney requested leave to file an oral motion for change of venue, to be followed by a written motion which complied with the rule (R 18). The trial court allowed the oral motion upon the condition that a written motion would follow at his first opportunity (R 18, 21). This condition was never met; no written motion was ever filed.

Secondly, the oral motion was further conditioned upon the inability to seat an impartial jury. The oral motion by the defense requested that a decision or ruling be deferred until after voir dire (R 19, 22). The oral motion was never renewed; it was apparently abandoned by the defense because they were satisfied with the impaneled jury (R 369). In any event, there was never a ruling on the motion. Absent an affirmative ruling in the record, the issue is not preserved for appellate review.

The state strenuously urges this honorable court to dispose of this issue on procedural grounds. A better case for lack of preservation cannot be found. Lack of preservation should simply end the discussion. See, Thompson v. Estelle, 642 F.2d 996 (5th Cir. 1981).

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